# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

OCT 2 1 2014

Frank A. WicGuire Clerk

JOSHUA HAVER, individually and as successor-in-interest to LYNNE HAVER, deceased, et al.,

Deputy

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

VS.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B246527; Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC435551

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WATERS KRAUS & PAUL
Paul C. Cook (State Bar No. 170901)
Michael B. Gurien (State Bar No. 180538)
222 North Sepulveda Boulevard, Suite 1900
El Segundo, California 90245
Telephone: (310) 414-8146

#### **ISSUE FOR REVIEW**

Does an employer who uses a toxin, such as asbestos, in the workplace have a duty of care to protect an immediate family member of its employee – in this case, the employee's spouse – from exposure to the toxin when it is foreseeably carried home from the workplace on the employee's body and clothing?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Lynne Haver ("Ms. Haver") was exposed to asbestos carried home on the clothing and body of her husband from his employment with The Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Company, a predecessor of Defendant and Respondent BNSF Railway Company ("Defendant BNSF" or "BNSF"), for whom he worked from July 1972 to 1974. She was diagnosed with mesothelioma, an asbestos-related disease, in March 2008 and died in April 2009.

Following her death, Ms. Haver's children, Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners Joshua Haver, Christopher Haver, Kyle Haver, and Jennifer Morris (collectively, "Plaintiffs"), filed this wrongful death action against BNSF. The complaint alleges that BNSF used asbestos-containing products in the workplace, that it was negligent in its use of those products, and that as a result of its negligence, Ms. Haver's husband was exposed to and unknowingly carried asbestos home from the workplace on his clothing and body, where Ms. Haver was exposed through contact with him,

resulting in her development of mesothelioma and subsequent death.

Relying on *Campbell v. Ford Motor Co.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 15, BNSF demurred to the complaint. *Campbell* held that a property owner did not have a duty to protect a family member of employees of an independent contractor from exposure to asbestos resulting from the independent contractor's work with asbestos insulation on the property owner's premises. (*Id.* at pp. 26-34.) Based on *Campbell*, BNSF argued that it did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. The trial court agreed and sustained the demurrer without leave to amend.

The resulting judgment was affirmed by a divided panel of Division Five of the Second Appellate District. Concluding that there was no basis to distinguish or disagree with *Campbell*, the two-justice majority held that the trial court's ruling was correct because BNSF did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 2, 4-8.) The dissenting justice disagreed, finding that BNSF did have a duty to protect Ms. Haver from asbestos exposure resulting from its negligent use of asbestos. (Typed dis. opn. at pp. 1-3.) The dissent found that "BNSF's duty arises from Civil Code section 1714, subsection (a), which makes everyone responsible for injuries caused by his or her negligence," and that the factors for determining whether a duty exception should be created, as specified in *Rowland v. Christian* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108, 112-113, did not support a departure from this fundamental rule. (Typed dis. opn. at pp. 2-3.)

After oral argument in this case, but before the court issued its decision, Division Three of the First Appellate District issued its decision in Kesner v. Superior Court (2014) 171 Cal.Rptr.3d 811 (previously published at 226 Cal.App.4th 251). As in this case, the issue in *Kesner* was whether an employer had a duty to protect a family member of its employee from asbestos exposure arising out of the employer's use of asbestos. (Id. at Contrary to the majority's decision here, Kesner pp. 812-813.) unanimously held that while "[t]he duty of care undoubtedly does not extend to every person who comes into contact with an employer's workers, ... we conclude that the duty runs at least to members of an employee's household who are likely to be affected by toxic materials brought home on the worker's clothing." (Id. at p. 813.) The Kesner court distinguished Campbell because the claim in Campbell "was based on Ford's passive involvement as owner of the plant in which an independent contractor was installing asbestos insulation," as opposed to any direct negligence arising out of the defendant's own use of asbestos, (id. at p. 816), and it found that the Rowland factors balanced differently under the circumstances in Kesner and did not support a duty exception. (Id. at pp.  $814-819.)^{1}$ 

On the same day review in this case was ordered (August 20, 2014), the court also granted the defendant's petition for review in *Kesner*. (*Kesner v. Superior Court* (2014) 175 Cal.Rptr.3d 810 [No. S219534].) In its description of both cases, the court states that "*Haver* and *Kesner*"

After its filing and publication, Plaintiffs informed the Court of Appeal of the decision in *Kesner*, but the majority declined to follow it. The majority held that *Kesner* was distinguishable because "the cause of action in *Kesner* [wa]s for products liability" and did not involve a premises liability claim, and because "Campbell made clear that its no duty rule encompassed all plaintiffs who suffered secondary exposure to asbestos off the landowner's property, regardless of the frequency of their contact with the worker who was exposed on the premises, or the worker's employment relationship with the landowner." (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 2, 7-8, original italics.) The dissent disagreed, finding that *Kesner* was indistinguishable and that its analysis of the *Rowland* factors was correct and supported a duty of care by BNSF. (Typed dis. opn. at pp. 1-2.)

The majority's decision was erroneous because, as the dissent correctly concluded, the *Rowland* factors, as applied under the circumstances of this case, do not support an exception to the fundamental duty of care of Civil Code § 1714(a).<sup>2</sup> As explained by this court in *Cabral* 

present the following issue: If an employer's business involves either the use or the manufacture of asbestos-containing products, does the employer owe a duty of care to members of an employee's household who could be affected by asbestos brought home on the employee's clothing?" (Issues Pending Before The California Supreme Court In Civil Cases, p. 9 at <a href="http://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/OCT1714civpend.pdf">http://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/OCT1714civpend.pdf</a> [as of Oct. 20, 2014].)

Unless stated otherwise, all further statutory references are to the Civil Code.

v. Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, "[t]he question is not whether a new duty should be created, but whether an exception to Civil Code section 1714's duty of exercising ordinary care in one's activities ... should be created," (id. at p. 783), and an exception is warranted "only when foreseeability and policy considerations justify a categorical no-duty rule." (Id. at p. 772, italics added.) As shown below, "foreseeability and policy considerations" do not "justify a categorical no-duty rule" in this case.

Moreover, contrary to the majority's conclusion, this case is distinguishable from Campbell, where the defendant merely owned the property where the independent contractor's work was performed and did not itself perform or control that work or otherwise create the asbestos hazard. In contrast to Campbell, the complaint here alleges that BNSF itself used asbestos in the operation of its business, through the work of its own employees under its direct control, and that its negligence in using the asbestos resulted in Ms. Haver's exposure when the asbestos was carried home from the workplace by her husband. Thus, unlike the defendant in Campbell, BNSF itself created the asbestos hazard through its own use of asbestos and, under these circumstances, the Rowland factors balance differently and do not support a duty exception. However, even if this case is considered to be indistinguishable from Campbell, Campbell was wrongly decided and should be disapproved.

Ultimately, the majority's no-duty determination appears to be

grounded in its view that recognition of a duty of a care would "extend[] employers' liability too far" and force companies into bankruptcy. (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 6-7.) However, as the dissent recognized, there is no factual support in the record for this conclusion, (typed dis. opn. at p. 2), and the only support cited by the majority for this point were articles in law journals and litigation guides. (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 6-7.) Additionally, the dissent correctly observed that "stronger public policy considerations counsel" in favor of a duty of care, as "[s]ociety does not benefit by allowing tortfeasors to avoid responsibility for their tortious conduct, particularly in cases such as the present one where the injury is a physical one and its cause undisputed." (Typed dis. opn. at p. 2.)

The duty of care under consideration here is not unique or novel, nor would its recognition turn California into an "outlier". Courts in other jurisdictions that follow a *Rowland*-type analysis for determining issues of duty, where foreseeability, as the primary consideration, is considered along with policy factors, have recognized a duty of care in "take-home" asbestos injury cases under circumstances analogous to this case. (E.g., *Olivo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc.* (N.J. 2006) 186 N.J. 394, 398-405 [895 A.2d 1143, 1146-1150]; *Satterfield v. Breeding Insulation Co.* (Tenn. 2008) 266 S.W.3d 347, 351-354, 364-375.) In doing so, these courts have rejected defense arguments that recognition of a duty would cause a deluge of further asbestos litigation and result in limitless liability, job losses and

company bankruptcies. (Satterfield, supra, 266 S.W.3d at pp. 369-371; see also Olivo, supra, 895 A.2d at p. 1150.) These courts have found that "such fears are overstated," (Olivo, supra, 895 A.2d at p. 1150), and that there is no policy reason to favor the companies whose negligence caused the exposures over the individuals who were exposed and injured. (Satterfield, supra, 266 S.W.3d at p. 371.)

Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed because there was and is no justification for creating a duty exception under the circumstances of this case.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### I. THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT.

The complaint alleges that Mike Haver, Ms. Haver's former husband, was employed by The Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Company, a predecessor of Defendant BNSF, at its railroad premises in Barstow, California from July 1972 to 1974. (1 Appellants' Appendix ["AA"] 2-3, 5, 7-8, 17 [¶¶ 3-4, 10-11, 22-24 and Ex. A]; typed maj. opn. at p. 2.) The complaint alleges that the premises where Mr. Haver worked were owned, maintained, managed and controlled by BNSF; that BNSF caused asbestos and asbestos-containing products, including asbestos insulation, to be installed, maintained and used on the premises, including by its employees, resulting in the release of dangerous quantities of asbestos fibers into the air; that Mr. Haver was exposed to asbestos fibers

on the premises during the course of his employment, including from asbestos insulation; that Ms. Haver was exposed to those asbestos fibers through household exposure from direct and indirect contact with her husband, including contact with his body, clothes, tools and vehicles, "which were contaminated with great quantities of asbestos fibers"; and that her exposure to those asbestos fibers resulted in her development of mesothelioma and subsequent death. (1 AA 5-10, 13, 17-18 [¶¶ 10-13, 22-24, 26, 28, 30, 33-34, 44 and Exs. A and B]; typed maj. opn. at pp. 2-3.)

The complaint alleges that BNSF knew or should have known that the presence and use of asbestos and asbestos-containing products on its premises created an unsafe condition and an unreasonable risk of harm and injury to Ms. Haver and other persons. (1 AA 9 [¶ 27]; typed maj. opn. at pp. 2-3.) The complaint alleges that Ms. Haver had no knowledge of the hazardous condition on BNSF's premises; that BNSF knew that its premises would be used without knowledge or inspection for dangerous conditions, and that persons on the premises would not be aware of the hazardous conditions created by the presence and use of asbestos and asbestos-containing products; that BNSF owed a duty of care to avoid exposing Ms. Haver to an unreasonable risk of harm from its premises; and that it breached its duty by negligently failing to maintain, manage, inspect, survey, or control its premises, and by negligently failing to abate, correct or warn her of the dangerous condition created by the presence and use of asbestos and asbestos-containing products on its premises. (1 AA 9-10  $[\P 26-33]$ ; typed maj. opn. at pp. 2-3.)

In their opposition to BNSF's demurrer, Plaintiffs stated that if further facts were necessary to plead that BNSF owed a duty of care to Ms. Haver, they could amend the complaint to allege detailed facts that:

- "Defendant BNSF's predecessor, The Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Company, who employed Ms. Haver's former husband, Mike Haver, from July 1972 until 1974, had actual knowledge that exposure to asbestos could cause fatal lung disease in human beings no later than 1937";
- the risk of exposure to asbestos carried home on the clothing of workers was known or knowable as early as the 1930s and was well established by the early-to-mid 1970s, when the exposures in this case took place;
- as early as the 1930s and 1940s, government and private organizations recognized the need for changing rooms, showers and isolation of dusty clothes to prevent workers from taking home toxic dust;
- by the time of the exposures in this case (July 1972 to 1974), the scientific and medical literature had specifically demonstrated that take-home asbestos exposures could cause mesothelioma; and
- employers were required, pursuant to federal OSHA asbestos regulations enacted in 1972, to use warnings, protective equipment, and other methods to protect against exposure to asbestos.

(2 AA 256-258 [proposed allegations in detail]; see also typed maj. opn. at p. 3 [describing complaint as alleging that "BNSF knew at all times of the danger of asbestos exposure, including secondary exposure to the spouses of its employees, but failed to abate the dangerous conditions on its

premises or warn Lynn of their existence"].)

#### II. PROCEDURAL SUMMARY.

### A. Proceedings In The Trial Court.

The complaint in this action was filed on April 12, 2010. (1 AA 1-18.) It alleges claims for wrongful death against Defendant BNSF based on theories of negligence and premises liability. (*Ibid.*)

Following an earlier appeal, BNSF filed a demurrer to the complaint on the ground that it did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (1 AA 210-244; typed maj. opn. at p. 3.) Relying on *Campbell v. Ford Motor Co.*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th 15, BNSF argued that it did not owe a duty to protect Ms. Haver from exposure to asbestos arising out its use of asbestos in the conduct of its business on its premises. (*Id.* at pp. 210-218; typed maj. opn. at p. 3.)

Plaintiffs' opposed the demurrer, (2 AA 249-322), arguing that *Campbell* was distinguishable and was not authority for the absence of a duty of care in this case. (*Id.* at pp. 254-255, 260-262.) In *Campbell*, the issue was whether a property owner owed a duty of care to a family member of employees of an independent subcontractor hired to install asbestos insulation on the property owner's premises in the 1940s. (*Ibid.*) In contrast, the issue here was whether an employer has a duty to protect an immediate family member (a spouse) of its own employee from exposure to asbestos carried home by the employee as a result of the employer's own

use of asbestos, where the employer had direct control over the asbestos and its use. (*Ibid.*) In addition, Plaintiffs argued that the exposures in this case occurred much later than the exposures in *Campbell.* (*Ibid.*) The exposures here occurred in the early-to-mid 1970s, when knowledge of asbestos as a deadly take-home hazard was far greater than what was known or knowable in the 1940s, when the exposures in *Campbell* occurred. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiffs argued that the duty analysis in *Campbell* was limited to the facts that were before the court in that case, which were limited to takehome exposures to asbestos from work by an independent contractor on the defendant's premises. (2 AA 261-262.) In contrast, Plaintiffs argued that this case involved exposure to asbestos from BNSF's own use of asbestos on its property, by its own employees under its direct control. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiffs argued that *Campbell* was inapplicable to this case because these were not the facts or issue before the *Campbell* court.

Having shown that *Campbell* was inapplicable, Plaintiffs argued that, based on the allegations, including the proposed allegations, there was no basis to create an exception to the general duty of care that BNSF owed Ms. Haver under section 1714(a). (2 AA 262-265.) Plaintiffs argued that BNSF, as the party claiming the absence of a duty, had failed to demonstrate that a duty exception was warranted under the *Rowland* factors. (*Id.* at pp. 262-264.) In addition, Plaintiffs argued that persuasive

authority from other jurisdictions had found a duty of care under circumstances analogous to this case. (*Id.* at pp. 264-265.)

In its reply, (2 AA 323-327), BNSF argued that "[t]he issue [of duty] in *Campbell*" was identical to the duty issue in this case and that, based on *Campbell*, it did not owe Ms. Haver a duty of care. (*Id.* at pp. 324-325.)

The trial court sustained the demurrer without leave to amend, ruling that *Campbell* was controlling and that BNSF did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (2 AA 328-335; Reporter's Transcript on Appeal, Oct. 24, 2012, pp. 1-5.) The court disagreed with Plaintiffs that *Campbell* was distinguishable because it did not consider the facts and issue presented in this case. (2 AA 329-330.) The court stated that "the Campbell court's holding that a property owner has no duty to protect family members of any worker on the defendant's premises from secondary exposure from asbestos encompasses the situation here where the defendant is the premises owner and the decedent was a family member of the defendant's employee." (*Ibid.*)

#### B. The Court Of Appeal's Decision.

In a published decision filed on June 3, 2014, a divided panel of Division Five of the Second Appellate District affirmed the judgment in favor of Defendant BNSF. The two-justice majority (Justice Kriegler joined by Presiding Justice Turner) held that there was no basis to distinguish this case from *Campbell*, that *Campbell* was correctly decided,

and that BNSF did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (Typed maj. opn. at pp. 2, 4-8.) The majority did not follow *Kesner v. Superior Court, supra*, 171 Cal.Rptr.3d 811, which was decided and published a few weeks earlier, finding that it was distinguishable because "the cause of action in *Kesner* [wa]s for products liability" and did not involve a claim for premises liability, and because "*Campbell* made clear that its no duty rule encompassed *all* plaintiffs who suffered secondary exposure to asbestos off the landowner's property, regardless of the frequency of their contact with the worker who was exposed on the premises, or the worker's employment relationship with the landowner." (Typed maj. opn. at 2, 7-8, original italics.)

The dissenting justice (Justice Mink) disagreed, concluding that BNSF had a duty to protect Ms. Haver from exposure to asbestos carried home from the workplace by her husband. (Typed dis. opn. at pp. 1-3.) The dissent found that "BNSF's duty arises from Civil Code section 1714, subsection (a), which makes everyone responsible for injuries caused by his or her negligence," and that the *Rowland* factors did not support an exception to this fundamental duty of care under the circumstances of this case. (*Id.* at pp. 2-3.) The dissent also found that this case was indistinguishable from *Kesner* and that the *Kesner* court's *Rowland* analysis was correct and supported the existence of a duty of care by BNSF. (*Id.* at pp. 1-2.)

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"Duty is a question of law for the court, to be reviewed de novo on appeal." (*Cabral, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at pp. 770-771.)

The standard of review for an appeal after an order sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend is well settled:

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