No. S219919

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOSHUA HAVER, individually and as successor-in-interest to

LYNNE HAVER, deceased, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

DEC 1 9 2014

Frank A. McCatho Sleek

Deputy

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Five, No. B246527
Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. BC435551,
The Honorable Richard E. Rico

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SELIM MOUNEDJI (173347) SIMS LAW FIRM, LLP 19762 MacArthur Blvd., Suite 350 Irvine, California 92612 Telephone: (949) 253-7900

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

DISCUSSION

I. The Rowland Factors Do Not Support Imposition of a Duty to Alleged Secondary Exposure Victims

As Plaintiffs acknowledge, this Court applies the factors set out in *Rowland v. Christian* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108, 113 (*Rowland*), to determine whether a defendant owes a duty of care to a plaintiff:

the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff, the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, the policy of preventing future harm, the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach, and

the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved.

(*Ibid.*) The Court evaluates these factors "at a relatively broad level

of factual generality" rather than focusing on the specific facts of a particular case. (Cabral v. Ralph's Grocery Co. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 772 (Cabral).)

The Rowland factors counsel strongly against creation of a new duty to take-home asbestos plaintiffs—a duty that would lead to a serious and unjustifiable expansion of asbestos litigation and liability. Even if the harm to Ms. Haver was theoretically foreseeable (it was not), foreseeability provides no workable limiting principle and therefore would not avert the disastrous consequences of Plaintiffs' In short, foreseeability cannot be the proposed new rule. Rather, the third factor—the determinative factor in this case. closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the alleged injury—suggests the proper limitation to a defendant's duty: Although a defendant may owe a duty to individuals directly exposed to asbestos through its acts or on its premises, it owes no duty to those whose exposure is indirect and attenuated. The remaining factors which Plaintiffs refer to as "public policy factors" (AOB at p. 23)- also counsel strongly against the costly and disruptive rule Plaintiffs advocate.

effort to avoid the obvious and unacceptable consequences of their position, Plaintiffs ask the Court to limit the new duty they seek to create. But the limits they seek to establish are arbitrary, indeterminate, and gerrymandered to resemble Plaintiffs' pleaded facts—they do not provide a principled rule that can be broadly applied, as is required for the establishment of a duty. (See, e.g., AOB at p. 35 [arguing that new duty of care should be limited to "mesothelioma victims" who had "regular, close and prolonged contact" with employees exposed to asbestos]; id. at p. 1 [arguing that duty should be limited to "immediate family members"]; id. at p. 30 fn. 3 [arguing that scope of duty is limited based on the number of cases "involving women"]; id. at p. 31 fn. 5 [relying on statistics limited to mesothelioma victims "with identified occupations of 'housewife' or 'homemaker'"].)

This Court has explicitly counseled against such an approach. When defining the scope of a defendant's duty, "[t]he need to draw a bright line . . . is essential." (*Elden v. Sheldon* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 267, 277 (*Elden*).) This Court has refused to endorse arbitrary, under- or

over-inclusive definitions of a defendant's duty when doing so would prevent courts from "draw[ing] a principled distinction" between plaintiffs permitted to sue and those whose suits were barred. (*Ibid.*) Thus in *Elden*, the court declined to permit recovery for negligent infliction of emotional distress by unmarried cohabitants of accident victims, because it could not rationally distinguish those plaintiffs from "de facto siblings, parents, grandparents or children," and permitting *all* of these groups to sue would amount to "an extension of liability [that] would place an intolerable burden on society." (*Ibid.*, citation omitted.)

Analysis of the *Rowland* factors shows that Plaintiffs cannot draw any "bright line" between their claims and those of untold other plaintiffs secondarily exposed to asbestos or other toxins. Instead, this Court should draw the only clear, predictable, and enforceable line it can, and hold that a defendant owes no duty to take-home asbestos plaintiffs who never set foot on the defendant's property and do not allege any direct exposure caused by the defendant.

A. Foreseeability Alone Is Not Determinative

Foreseeability of injury to the plaintiff is a necessary condition for the existence of a tort duty. Indeed, this Court has concluded that

"[f]oreseeability and the extent of the burden to the defendant are ordinarily the crucial considerations" under *Rowland*, although "in a given case one or more of the other *Rowland* factors may be determinative of the duty analysis." (*Castaneda v. Olsher* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1205, 1213 (*Castaneda*).)

As this Court has repeatedly held, however, "foreseeability alone is *not* sufficient to create an independent tort duty." (*Ehrlich v. Menezes* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 543, 552 (*Ehrlich*), italics added .) The duty analysis "recognizes that policy considerations may dictate a cause of action should not be sanctioned no matter how foreseeable the risk." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Elden, supra*, 46 Cal.3d at p. 274.) "[F]oresight alone" can never "provide[] a socially and judicially acceptable limit on recovery of damages for [an] injury," and foreseeability is neither "synonymous with duty[] nor . . . a substitute." (*Ehrlich, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 552, quoting *Thing v. La Chusa* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 644, 668.)

1. As an initial matter, Plaintiffs have failed to show that any harm to Ms. Haver was foreseeable in the period from 1972 to 1974 when Mike Haver worked for ATSF. Plaintiffs acknowledge that to demonstrate foreseeability, their allegations must show that "a

reasonably thoughtful person would take account of" the risk of secondary exposure to harmful chemicals "in guiding practical conduct." (AOB at pp. 17-18, quoting Bigbee v. Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co. (1983) 24 Cal.3d 49, 57, alterations and quotation marks omitted (Bigbee).) Their complaint itself does not come close to making this showing. It includes only conclusory allegations that defendants (including BNSF) "knew, or should have known" that Ms. Haver "would use or be in proximity of and exposed to . . . asbestos fibers" allegedly generated or released by ATSF's activity. (1AA004.) But the complaint does not allege any facts whatsoever showing or suggesting that take-home asbestos exposure was a foreseeable risk at the time of Mike Haver's employment with ATSF.

Acknowledging this deficiency, Plaintiffs have proposed to amend their complaint to add a hodgepodge of references to academic, industrial, and governmental documents suggesting either general risks associated with asbestos exposure or potential risks from secondary exposure. (AOB at p. 9.) Plaintiffs never allege in more than conclusory terms, however, that BNSF or its predecessors had any reason to be aware of any of these documents in the 1970s—indeed, the only document they point to that could reasonably give

rise to constructive knowledge of the risks of take-home asbestos on the part of employers is an NIOSH report from 1995. (See 2AA256.)

Plaintiffs' patchwork of conclusory allegations (and proposed allegations) is insufficient to establish that the risk of take-home exposure was, in fact, so "well established" by the early 1970s that "a reasonably thoughtful person would take account of . . . the risk" in guiding his or her conduct at that time. (AOB at pp. 17-18, alterations and quotation marks omitted.) This is especially clear because BNSF does not produce asbestos or asbestos-containing products; its workers came into contact with asbestos (if at all) only infrequently and incidentally. (See 1AA061-062.) Plaintiffs' proposed allegations seek to exploit the benefit of hindsight, but they never establish that harm from take-home asbestos exposure was a foreseeable risk for a railroad in the early 1970s. ¹

2. Even if Plaintiffs could satisfactorily allege foreseeability. (they cannot), their discussion of this factor does not address, let alone

¹ Indeed, Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Haver herself—presumably a "reasonably thoughtful" person (AOB at pp. 17-18, quotation marks omitted)—had no knowledge of the dangers of asbestos, let alone secondary exposure to asbestos, during the relevant time period. (See 1AA006.)

resolve, the fundamental line-drawing problem that plagues Plaintiffs' entire argument.

If Plaintiffs are right that health risks related to off-site, secondary exposure to asbestos were foreseeable at the time of the exposures they allege, then there is no rational justification for differentiating between individuals in Ms. Haver's position and others who could just as foreseeably have come into contact with asbestos. Plaintiffs' effort to limit the scope of their rule to "immediate family member[s]" (AOB at p. 1) of defendants' employees makes no sense. Under this proposed rule, a worker's wife could sue for secondary exposure whether or not they cohabitate, but the worker's roommate, live-in girlfriend, or unmarried domestic partner could not. Laundry workers who regularly handled the worker's clothes and transit officials who transported the worker to and from the defendant's job site daily would have no claim, even though they may have faced far more significant exposures than the worker's "immediate family These perverse and inconsistent outcomes cannot be members." reconciled with this Court's insistence that tort duties be delimited by "bright line[s]" based on "principled distinction[s]." (Elden, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 277.)

Foreseeability also fails to distinguish mesothelioma claims from other alleged asbestos-related illnesses, as Plaintiffs attempt to do in certain portions of their brief. (See AOB at pp. 30-31.) In fact, in other portions of their brief, Plaintiffs acknowledge that their proposed rule would not be limited to mesothelioma alone. (See AOB at p. 9 [alleging that BNSF's predecessor had "actual knowledge that exposure to asbestos could cause *fatal lung disease* in human beings no later than 1937," italics added]).

In short, even if Plaintiffs could establish foreseeability (they cannot), the foreseeability factor cannot be determinative of this Court's duty analysis. If Plaintiffs' purported showing of foreseeability were sufficient to create a duty, it would expand the scope of that duty beyond any limits Plaintiffs propose or defend. And in the take-home asbestos context, foreseeability of harm cannot satisfy the "essential" "need to draw a bright line" delimiting the scope of a defendant's duty. (*Elden, supra*, 46 Cal.3d at 277.) Instead, this is a case where "one or more of the other *Rowland* factors" should "be determinative." (*Castaneda, supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 1213.)

B. Any Connection Between a Defendant's Conduct and Illness Ostensibly Related to Take-Home Asbestos Exposure Is Indirect and Attenuated at Best

As discussed above, the "foreseeability" factor does not provide any clear distinction between those to whom businesses owe a duty to protect from asbestos exposure and those to whom no duty is owed. But examining the "the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered" (*Rowland, supra*, 69 Cal.2d at p. 113) provides a sharp distinction between direct and attenuated asbestos exposure that counsels strongly against the expanded duty proposed by Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs' contention that "Ms. Haver's disease and death . . . were *direct* results of BNSF's negligent use of asbestos" is manifestly false. (AOB at p. 22, italics added.) Plaintiffs do not seek relief based on any allegation that Ms. Haver ever set foot on BNSF's property, was exposed to any asbestos-containing product manufactured or controlled by BNSF, or was in any other way exposed to asbestos *directly* from BNSF. Instead, they claim only that "Ms. Haver's *husband* was exposed to . . . asbestos [carried] home from the workplace on his clothing and body, where Ms. Haver was exposed through contact with him." (AOB at p. 1, italics added.) This case

concerns allegations of *secondary*, rather than *primary*, exposure—it involves an attenuated chain of events leading from Mr. Haver's alleged exposure at his workplace to Ms. Haver's ultimate alleged exposure through connection with him or his clothing at their home. This kind of attenuated connection, which relies on the intervening acts of a defendant's employee to transmit the alleged asbestos risk to the plaintiff, weighs strongly against the imposition of a legal duty.

This Court has routinely held that where a plaintiff's theory of causation rests upon the intervening acts of third parties, that theory is too attenuated to justify imposing a duty on the defendant. For example, in *Hoff v. Vacaville Unified School District* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 925, the Court held that a school owed no duty to protect a nearby pedestrian who was struck by a vehicle driven by a student who had just exited the school parking lot. The Court concluded that any obligation on the part of the school to supervise students did not trump the "general rule" that "one has no duty to control the conduct of another." (*Id.* at p. 933, quotation marks and citation omitted). It also rejected the plaintiff's argument that the existence of a relationship between the school and the student (but not between the school and the plaintiff) was sufficient to impose a duty. (*Id.* at pp.

933-934.) Likewise, in *Richards v. Stanley* (1954) 43 Cal.2d 60, 65 (*Richards*), the Court held that a defendant who negligently left her keys in the ignition of her car owed no duty to another driver who was struck by a thief driving the defendant's car. (*Id.* at pp. 61-62.) And in *Bryant v. Glastetter* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 770, the Court of Appeal held that a drunk driver who was stopped and arrested on the side of a highway owed no duty to the tow truck driver who, while working to remove the defendant's vehicle, was struck by another driver and killed.

The causal chain in this case is equally attenuated. Here, without the intervening conduct of a third person acting outside of BNSF's control, there is no way that Ms. Haver could have been exposed to asbestos that originated on BNSF's property.² Because BNSF had no direct connection whatsoever to Ms. Haver and she

² This fact could also be relevant to defeat causation by showing the existence of an intervening cause. This Court has made clear, however, that the relevance of an intervening cause to the *causation* analysis differs materially from its relevance to the *duty* analysis: "In the latter case the problem is whether or not the defendant's conduct was wrongful *toward the plaintiff*, while in the former it is whether he should be relieved of responsibility for an admitted wrong because another's wrongful conduct also contributed to the injury." (*Richards, supra*, 43 Cal.2d at pp. 68-69, italics added.) Thus, even an innocent act by a third party may sufficiently attenuate the causal chain to prohibit recognition of a legal duty.

could not have been exposed to asbestos absent the conduct of a third party, the closeness-of-connection factor militates against recognition of a duty here.

Importantly, this factor also provides the "bright line" that should limit the scope of defendants' duty under these circumstances. (Elden, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 277.) There is a stark qualitative difference between direct exposure to asbestos—exposure that takes place on a defendant's premises, affects a defendant's employee, or is caused by use of a defendant's product—and indirect exposure, which (as here) takes place off the defendant's premises and allegedly affects individuals who have no relationship with the defendant whatsoever.

Further, the challenges interposed by recognizing a duty for attenuated and indirect "take-home" asbestos cases, like this one, are compounded by the shaky science underlying such claims. As an initial matter, mesothelioma can develop even without *any* exposure to asbestos. (See Brickman, *Fraud and Abuse in Mesothelioma Litigation* (2014) 88 Tul. L.Rev. 1071, 1072 fn. 5 ["mesothelioma occurs in all populations even absent asbestos exposure," citation omitted]; see also, e.g., Behrens, *What's New in Asbestos Litigation?* (2009) 28 Rev. Litig. 501, 527 [reporting estimates that "twenty to

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